FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/29/2022 2:14 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON 4 80 8/30/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

101219-5 NO. 83416-9

# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

#### NGUYEN FAMILY TRUST,

Appellant,

v.

### DARLENE PIPER and AMERICAN LEBANESE SYRIAN ASSOCIATED CHARITIES, INC., d/b/a ST. JUDE CHILDREN'S RESEARCH HOSPITAL

Respondent.

# APPELLANT NGUYEN FAMILY TRUST'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS F. GALLAGHER, WSBA #24199 GALLAGHER LAW, PLLC

Attorney for Appellant 417 South G Street Tacoma, Washington 98405 Telephone: (253) 328-4254

Email: tom@tgallagherlaw.net

##

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner is the Nguyen Family Trust ("NFT"), the Plaintiff in the underlying action and the Appellant herein.

#### II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

NFT requests review of the decisions of the Court of Appeals, Division I ("Division I") in Nguyen Family Trust v. Darlene Piper ("Piper") and American Lebanese Syrian Associated Charities, Inc, d/b/a St. Jude Children's Research Hospital ("St. Jude").

#### III. INTRODUCTION

This case involves a clear matter of right and wrong. St. Jude has possession NFT's stolen money and refuses to return it.

Defendant Piper WSBA #24244 is a former attorney who is now serving time in a federal prison for her fraudulent scheme in stealing money from NFT, a self-settled trust for the benefit of

Tina Chapman ("Chapman"). Piper stole NFT's money and gave it to St. Jude to hide the fact that Piper, while acting as personal representative of the Estate of Jack Yates (the "Yates Estate"), had misappropriated funds from that estate that were intended for St. Jude. In other words, rather than own up to the fact she had wrongly taken estate money meant for St. Jude and used those funds for her own benefit, Piper stole \$500,000 from NFT under the guise of assisting NFT with an investment in bonds and gave it to St. Jude in an attempt to hide her misdeeds with the money from the Yates Estate.

Chapman/NFT sued Piper seeking to find out where her money was and recoup that stolen money. Once it was learned during the pendency of the lawsuit that Piper paid NFT's \$500,000 to St. Jude, St. Jude was joined as a defendant. NFT obtained a civil judgment against Piper for fraud and conversion of NFT's money. However, despite the theft, both the trial court and the Division I allowed St. Jude to retain NFT's stolen money. They did so under the technical theory that a civil judgment

against Piper for her conversion is an "adequate remedy at law," supposedly eliminating any equitable claim or remedy against St.

Jude for restitution, unjust enrichment or a constructive trust, which would have compelled a return of the stolen funds back to NFT as the rightful owner.

Division I's opinion, allowing St. Jude to retain stolen money, is directly contrary to Washington Supreme Court precedent that has been repeatedly reaffirmed since the decision in *Rozell v. VanDyke*, 11 Wash. 79, 39 P. 270 (1895), recognizing the right of a party who was divested of property through fraud or misrepresentation to recover that property by means of a constructive trust, even if the property had been transferred to a subsequent holder, such as St. Jude.

The decision also conflicts directly with other Court of Appeals decisions, such as *Bailie Communications*, *Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems*, 53 Wn. App. 77, 765 P.2d 339 (1988), where the trial court was directed to enter a judgment for unjust enrichment against a third party who received fraudulently

obtained funds, even though the plaintiffs already prevailed on legal claims against other defendants involving liability for the same funds.

Under the reasoning adopted in Division I's Opinion in this case, a victim in NFT's shoes could never obtain restitution as a remedy against someone other than the thief, even if the stolen property is traceable to another person, because a victim will always be entitled to a money judgment against the thief, a truly pyrrhic victory.

The Court's error below, allowing a person to retain stolen money despite the fact that conversion has been proven against the thief, also raises an issue of substantial public interest. In fact, it is so important to return stolen money that our legislature has made it a Class B felony to knowingly retain stolen property in excess of \$5,000.00. RCW 9A.56.140 and .150. St. Jude should not have been permitted to retain NFT's stolen money, as it is a crime to do so.

Equity demands that St. Jude return the stolen money, and therefore, this Court should accept review and correct the holding below.

#### IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Division I's opinion conflicts with Washington Supreme Court precedent that has been repeatedly reaffirmed since its decision in *Rozell v. VanDyke*, 11 Wash. 79, 39 P. 270 (1895), recognizing the right of a party who was divested of property through fraud or misrepresentation to recover that property by means of a constructive trust, even if the property has been transferred from the original wrongdoer to a subsequent holder?
- 2. Whether the Court should accept review when Division I's opinion denying the NFT's claims for restitution and unjust enrichment to recover money lost through fraud conflicts with the published Court of Appeals decision in *Bailie Communications*, *Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems*, 53 Wn. App. 77, 765 P.2d 339 (1988), where the Court of Appeals applied

the Restatement (First) of Restitution §123, and directed the trial court to enter judgment for unjust enrichment against a third party who received fraudulently obtained funds, even though the plaintiffs had already prevailed on legal claims against two other defendants involving liability for the same funds?

Division I's opinion involves an issue of substantial public interest, where the decision condones and legitimizes a third party's receipt and retention of money obtained through fraud and conversion simply because the rightful owner has obtained (or has the ability to obtain) a money judgment against the thief/fraudster, which runs contrary to both legislative and judicial protections of property rights?

#### V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. FACTUAL HISTORY

Chapman, a Vietnamese immigrant and the settlor and

beneficiary of the NFT<sup>1</sup>, is attempting to recoup trust money that her former attorney, Piper, stole.

#### A. Piper misappropriated estate funds meant for St. Jude.

In 2014, former attorney Piper withdrew \$520,000 out of the total of approximately \$525,000 held by Yates Estate, which estate Piper was administering as its personal representative.<sup>2</sup> St. Jude was intended to be the sole beneficiary of the Yates Estate.<sup>3</sup> Following a series of transactions in and out of various bank accounts,<sup>4</sup> which included a forged endorsement by Piper, Piper transferred \$200,000 of the \$520,000 in Yates Estate's money from her Columbia Bank account to Paraguay for investment in high interest bonds (15%-17%) in Piper's own name.<sup>5</sup> Between June and August 2014, Piper transferred the remainder of the Yates Estate's funds of over \$300,000 from her Columbia Bank

<sup>1</sup> RP. Vol. 2, p. 74; 159

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RP V.3, p. 118; CP 881-886.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> CP 881-886.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> RP V.3, p 120, 133, 137; CP 778, 845, 900, 906, 993

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>CP 873-877; RP V.3. p 139-140

account to her IOLTA trust account in a series of checks, out of her paranoia that banks might report too many big checks being written.<sup>6</sup>

Then, in August 2014, Piper transferred the balance of Yates Estate's funds of over \$300,000, together with other monies for a total of \$800,000, from her IOLTA trust account to Paraguay,<sup>7</sup> in order to make a two-year, high-interest loan promising an interest rate of 20%.<sup>8</sup> The loan was made solely in Piper's name to Mr. Ever Marengo, a Paraguayan arms dealer.<sup>9</sup>

Marengo made monthly interest-only payments on the loan from October 2014 to July 2015 when he defaulted.<sup>10</sup> As a result of the default, Piper would be unable to return the Yates Estate's funds.

# B. Piper stole Chapman's money from NFT to cover her wrongdoing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> RP V.4, p. 138-142.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> CP 1014; RP V.1, p. 21-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> CP 824-826, 1108-1136

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Id.; An Order in Limine prevented NFT from referring to Mr. Marengo as an arms dealer or a gun dealer. CP 541.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> RP V.4, p. 96.

Chapman had worked six to seven days a week running a restaurant.<sup>11</sup> She sold the restaurant business and worked to build a house on Bainbridge Island.<sup>12</sup> She then sold the house on Bainbridge Island to purchase a gas station in Gig Harbor.<sup>13</sup> The restaurant, the house, and finally the gas station represented Tina Chapman's "retirement" fund,<sup>14</sup> which was the product of her hard work and long hours for most of her adult life. Piper had acted as Chapman's lawyer and the two were also friends.<sup>15</sup> Piper attended the closing of the sale of Chapman's home.<sup>16</sup>

Desperate to close the Yates Estate without disclosing her misappropriation of estate funds, Piper told Chapman she could earn 15% return by investing in Paraguayan bank bonds, which Piper represented were government backed and, therefore, safe.<sup>17</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> RP Vol. 2, pp. 84, 86.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> RP Vol. 2, pp. 105, 119, 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> RP Vol. 2, pp. 82, 90-91

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> RP Vol. 2, p. 136

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> RP Vol. 2, p. 88-89

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> RP Vol. 2, p. 92

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> RP Vol 2, p. 111, 144

She did not inform Chapman that she intended to transfer the funds to St. Jude to cover her wrongdoing.

The proceeds from the sale of Chapman's house were deposited in the NFT's bank account on August 31, 2015. Nine days later, on September 9, 2015, through Piper's fraud, \$515,000<sup>19</sup> was deposited into Piper's IOLTA trust account. Prior to the September 9, 2015, deposit of \$515,000, Piper's IOLTA trust account only had a balance of \$866.76. Following receipt of Chapman's money, Piper texted Chapman, claiming: "I will stop by the bank tomorrow to set up the wire to Paraguay. You'll start getting your interest next month." Unfortunately, Piper had no intention of investing Chapman's money in government backed bank bonds, as she had falsely represented.

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> RP Vol. IV, p. 29; CP 1137-1139 (EX 475)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> RP V.2., p. 82. \$15,000 of the \$515,000 was repayment amounts owed to Piper for the purchase of restaurant equipment. The balance of \$500,000 was to be invested by Piper into bond funds.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 1035; CP 831-832.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 1044-1049 (EX. 77)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 1070-1072.

Instead, she needed Chapman's money to replace the funds she had previously lost as a result of her imprudent loan to the Paraguayan arms dealer.

On October 1, 2015, Piper converted<sup>23</sup> \$500,000.00 of NFT's money and paid it to St. Jude in a \$528,730.61 cashier's check drawn on her IOLTA trust account.<sup>24</sup> Piper then filed a sworn but false estate accounting with the Kitsap County Superior Court, that omits (i) her withdrawal of \$520,000 in estate funds, (ii) her investment of \$200,000 in Paraguayan bonds, (iii) her investment of the \$320,000 balance in the Marengo loan, (iv) her receipt of over \$92,000 in interest earned on the Marengo loan.<sup>25</sup>

NFT's money is, therefore, directly traceable to St. Jude.

To cover her fraud and conversion, two days later, on October 3,

2015, Piper sent Chapman another text message falsely stating

<sup>23</sup> CP 627-629 (Verdict Form)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> CP 947-950 (EX. 49). CP 1044-1049 (EX. 77)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> CP 887-897 (EX 33)

(i) her money had been wired to Paraguay, (ii) it had been converted to the local currency, (iii) Piper would fly to Paraguay the following week to set up the investments, and (iv) Chapman could withdraw her investments at any time.<sup>26</sup> In December 2015, Piper then gave Chapman a check for \$12,500 as "interest" for the supposed investment in the bank bonds.<sup>27</sup>

When it was subsequently discovered during the course of the present lawsuit that Piper had actually sent NFT's \$500,000.00 to St. Jude instead of investing those funds in bonds as she had represented, St. Jude was added as a defendant to recoup the stolen funds it had received.

In reading the Court of Appeals opinion, one would think that Piper had invested NFT's money. See, e.g. Opinion at page 2: "Piper later admitted that she ultimately directed the money into a mortgage-backed loan despite Chapman not fully

<sup>26</sup> CP 1104-1107

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 1032-1034; RP V. 2, p. 131. But there was no investment in bonds or otherwise. And the Marengo loan had gone into default five months earlier.

understanding the investment." But this "admission" was nothing more than Piper's after-the-fact concoction<sup>28</sup> to argue to the jury that she did not steal Chapman's funds and instead the funds were lost as a result of a failed investment. She claimed Chapman was intending to replace St. Jude's as the primary investor in the Marengo loan. This was a lie, and in fact, the Marengo loan was already in default. This claim by Piper and St. Jude was soundly rejected by the Jury's verdict in favor of NFT finding Piper committed fraud, conversion and a violation of Washington's Securities Act.<sup>29</sup> The jury specifically found that NFT's \$500,000 was converted – i.e., stolen – by Piper.<sup>30</sup> Indeed, after the trial and judgment against her, Piper ultimately confessed to her theft.

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> In Piper's initial bankruptcy filings that she prepared under the penalty of perjury with the assistance of counsel, Piper asserted that the entirety of the Paraguayan mortgage-backed loan was her own, that she, herself had earned over \$92,000 in interest on that loan, and that she herself had provided a gift to St. Jude in the amount of \$529,000. CP 803-818 (EX 3). Piper later changed her story as she attempted to dodge liability in the present lawsuit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 627-629 (Verdict Form).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id*.

Yet on appeal at Division I, St. Jude continued to argue the same untruth that it asserted at trial under its joint defense agreement with Piper, and the same untruth that it repeated fifteen (15) times in its Respondent's Brief—that Piper had allegedly invested NFT's money in the Paraguayan loan. But that claim was rejected by the jury's finding of conversion and regardless cannot be accepted as true on summary judgment.

During the pendency of this appeal, NFT asked the Court to take judicial notice of Piper's guilty plea wherein she confirmed that NFT's money was never invested at all but instead was sent to St. Jude.<sup>31</sup> That motion was never ruled upon until well after Division I issued its opinion.<sup>32</sup> Piper's August 30, 2021, guilty plea in *United States v. Piper*, CR20-5372JRB which arises from her scheme to defraud and convert NFT's \$500,000.00, conclusively establishes that no investment of any

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> See Appendix 3 ("TC" refers to Tina Chapman, the sole beneficiary of NFT)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> See Appendix 4 & 5

kind was ever made, and instead NFT's money was stolen and paid to St. Jude.<sup>33</sup> St Jude cannot dispute it is in possession of NFT's money, which was stolen by Piper under false pretenses.<sup>34</sup>

#### 2. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The present case comes before the Court on the review of an order granting summary judgment, dismissing NFT's bifurcated claims against St. Jude for restitution, unjust enrichment and imposition of a constructive trust following the jury's verdict against Piper. The jury found Piper violated Washington's Securities Act<sup>35</sup>, committed fraud, and converted NFT's \$500,000.00. St. Jude moved for summary judgment arguing

7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> RPC 3.3 Candor to the Tribunal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>The Securities Act is violated when a party contracts for the purchase of securities, but no securities are delivered. *See e.g.* McClellan v. Sundholm, 89 Wn.2d 527, 533, 574 P.2d 371 (1978)(A seller's agreement to sell silver bullion to a buyer for investment purposes, acceptance of the buyer's money, followed by the seller's failure to provide any bullion was a contract of sale in violation of the Securities Act.).

that (i) NFT's \$500,000 became Piper's because a "sale" of a security occurred, making the \$500,000 the rightful property of Piper to do with as she wished, and (ii) that equitable claims against St. Jude were foreclosed by the judgment against Piper which it claimed was an "adequate remedy at law." In light of the jury's uncontested finding that Piper converted its funds, NFT, as the nonmoving party, moved for entry of judgment against St. Jude for restitution. However, the trial court granted summary judgment and dismissed NFT's claims for a return of its money.

Division l's opinion affirmed the trial court's dismissal of NFT's claims against St. Jude, finding that NFT's claims against St. Jude for restitution, unjust enrichment, and a request for a constructive trust, were just a single claim for unjust enrichment "37 Division I found that NFT's judgment against

<sup>36</sup> CP 718-739.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Opinion at page 5. *Cf. Nelson v. Appleway Chevrolet, Inc.*, 160 Wn. 2d 173, 187–88, 157 P.3d 847 (2007) "restitution. . . is 'itself a source of obligations...."

Piper was an adequate remedy at law, barring any equitable claim against St. Jude. <sup>38</sup> Division I called NFT's claim that Piper would not pay the judgment "speculation."<sup>39</sup>

On July 29, 2022, Division I issued an order denying NFT's Motion for Reconsideration. *See* Appendix 2.

# VI. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1. Long standing Washington Supreme Court precedent allows persons whose property has been lost through fraud to recover that property in the hands of a subsequent transferee by means of the imposition of a constructive trust.

Since 1895, the Washington State Supreme Court has recognized the right of a party whose property has been lost

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Id. at p. 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Id. at p. 7. It is clear that Piper will never pay NFT's judgment against her. After this lawsuit was commenced in July 2017, Piper filed bankruptcy on August 30, 2017. On September 22, 2017, with the assistance of counsel, Piper filed a schedule of her assets. She did not own a car or a house. The combined value of her personal property and her financial assets totaled \$986. CP 803-818 (EX. 3- Bankruptcy schedules)

through fraud or misrepresentation to trace their property and recover their property by means of a constructive trust, even if the property has been transferred from the original wrongdoer to a subsequent holder. *See Rozell v. VanDyke*, 11 Wash. 79, 39 P. 270 (1895).

A constructive trust arises where a person holding title to property is subject to an equitable duty to convey it to another on the ground that he would be unjustly enriched if he were permitted to retain it. *Baker v. Leonard*, 120 Wn. 2d 538, 548, 843 P.2d 1050 (1993) *(citing Proctor v. Forsythe*, 4 Wn. App. 238, 242, 480 P.2d 511 (1971) and *Thor v. McDearmid*, 63 Wn. App. 193, 206, 817 P.2d 1380 (1991)).

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