FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/28/2022 3:50 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

> No. 101219-5 Court of Appeals Case No. 83416-9-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE NGUYEN FAMILY TRUST,

Appellant,

v.

DARLENE PIPER and AMERICAN LEBANESE SYRIAN ASSOCIATED CHARITIES, INC. D.B.A. ST. JUDE CHILDREN'S RESEARCH HOSPITAL,

Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tyler L. Farmer, WSBA #39912 Ashley D. Burman, WSBA #58754 HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP 999 Third Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, WA 98104 Tel: (206) 623-1700 Fax: (206) 623-8717 Email: tylerf@harriganleyh.com Email: ashleyb@harriganleyh.com *Attorney for ALSAC, Inc.*

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

Fraud Claim. The jury finally awarded the Trust \$62,500.³⁵ This represents the amount in interest that the Trust would have received had Ms. Piper invested the funds in the authorized bond investment instead of the Marengo loan.

Pursuant to the WSSA, on July 24, 2020, the Trust moved for an award of attorneys' fees.³⁶

³³ *Id*.

- ³⁵ *Id.* at 630.
- ³⁶ CP 1193-1201.

³⁴ *Id.* at 629.

D. The trial court correctly dismissed the Trust's claim for equitable relief.

Based on the jury's verdict and evidence at trial, St. Jude moved for dismissal of the Trust's claim on January 15, 2020.³⁷ On March 23, 2020, after considering oral argument, extensive briefing, and having presided over the four-week trial, Judge Bassett granted St. Jude's motion and dismissed the Trust's claim.³⁸ On July 16, 2020, the Trust obtained its judgment against Ms. Piper.³⁹ The judgment awarded a total principal amount of \$562,500.⁴⁰ Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest was also awarded: 8 percent per annum on the securities damages (\$500,000), and 5.25 percent per annum on the fraud damages (\$62,500).⁴¹ The judgment did not separately award post judgment interest on the Trust's

- ³⁷ CP 680-96.
- ³⁸ CP 773-75.
- ³⁹ CP 776-79.
- ⁴⁰ *Id*.
- ⁴¹ *Id*.

conversion damages (\$500,000), because this would have been duplicative of the post-judgment interest awarded on the WSSA damages.⁴² The judgment further invited the Trust to file a petition for attorneys' fees, which were awarded in the amount of \$281,372.20, on October 5, 2020.⁴³

E. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court.

Then, the Trust filed an appeal. Division I of the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of the equitable claim against St. Jude.⁴⁴ Division I rejected the Trust's arguments holding: "Because [the Trust] was provided an adequate remedy at law by way of a jury verdict against Darlene Piper, which was reduced to a judgment after trial, the court did not err in dismissing its claim for equitable relief

⁴² *Id*.

⁴³ CP 1202-14.

⁴⁴ Pet., App. 1 at 1 (*Nguyen Family Trust v. Am. Lebanese Syrian Assoc. Charities, Inc.*, No. 83416-9-I (Wash. Ct. App. May 31, 2022)).

against [St. Jude].⁴⁵ On June 21, 2022, the Trust moved for reconsideration,⁴⁶ which the Court of Appeals denied on July 7, 2022.⁴⁷

The Court of Appeals correctly decided the case and the Trust's Petition does not present any basis for further review.

IV. LEGAL AUTHORITY AND ARGUMENT

The Trust fails to meet any of the standards in Rule of

Appellate Procedure 13.4(b) for granting a petition for review.

Accordingly, this Court should deny the Trust's Petition.

A. The Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law regarding equitable relief.

The Trust asserts that this Court may accept review

because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision

of this Court.⁴⁸ Not so. Division I's opinion is in complete

⁴⁵ *Id.* at 1.

⁴⁶ App. 1 (Appellant Nguyen Family Trust's Mot. for Recons., No. 83416-9 (June 21, 2022)).

⁴⁷ App. 2 (Order Den. Mot. for Recons., No. 83416-9 (July 29, 2022)).

⁴⁸ Pet. at 5.

harmony with this Court's precedents, and the Trust is not entitled to the equitable relief it seeks.

1. The Trust's equitable claim fails because it has an adequate legal remedy.

In deciding this case, the Court of Appeals rested its decision on this Court's precedent: "A court will grant equitable relief only when there is a showing that a party is entitled to a remedy and the remedy at law is inadequate."⁴⁹ That is because "an equitable remedy is an extraordinary" form of relief.⁵⁰

In *Sorenson*, a group of lenders sought to recover in equity against a third party. This Court rejected as irrelevant the lenders' argument that the judgment debtor lacked "funds and property to satisfy this judgment."⁵¹ Instead, this Court held that the remedy at law provided by the judgment against the judgment debtor was sufficient, even if the "likelihood of

⁴⁹ Pet., App. 1 at 5-6 (quoting *Sorenson v. Pyatt*, 158 Wn.2d 523, 531 (2006)).

⁵⁰ *Id.* at 6 (quoting *Sorenson*, 158 Wn.2d at 531).

⁵¹ Sorenson, 158 Wn.2d at 544.

full payment is small."⁵² The mere "entry of judgment in favor of the Lender's claimants on the money owed to them by [the debtor] is sufficient evidence that a remedy at law exists."⁵³ Thus, as a matter of law, equity would not be served by imposing the debtor's burden on the third party.⁵⁴

Here, the Trust's judgment against Piper is an adequate remedy at law, and *Sorenson* is dispositive. The Court of Appeals, relying on this precedent, properly affirmed the trial court.⁵⁵

2. The Trust's case citations do not change the outcome.

⁵² *Id*.

⁵³ *Id.* at 543-44.

⁵⁴ *Id.* at 544.

⁵⁵ Pet., App. 1 at 10 ("Because we find [the Trust] has a complete, adequate, and clear remedy at law [against Piper], it is not entitled to an equitable remedy against [St. Jude].").

The Trust argues that certain decisions from this Court support its unjust enrichment claim against St. Jude and justifies review here.⁵⁶ The Trust's argument fails.

Rozell

First, *Rozell* involves clear-cut wrongdoing by the defendant whom the court found was unjustly enriched. Defendant Mr. Vansyckle took advantage of the plaintiff because he was elderly and uneducated. Ultimately, Mr. Vansyckle manipulated the plaintiff into conveying 80 acres of valuable property, *without any consideration*, to Mr. Vansyckle.⁵⁷ Subsequently and without Mr. Rozell's knowledge or consent, Mr. Vansyckle conveyed the same property by quitclaim deed to his son-in-law, Mr. Gardiner.⁵⁸

⁵⁶ Pet. at 17-21 (citing *Rozell v. Vansyckle*, 11 Wash. 79 (1895) (The Trust's citation incorrectly identifies this case as "*Rozell v. VanDyke*.") and *Viewcrest Co-op. Ass'n, Inc. v. Deer*, 70 Wn.2d 290 (1967)).

⁵⁷ *Rozell*, 11 Wn. at 80-82.

⁵⁸ *Id.* at 82.

Mr. Gardiner was fully aware of the dubious circumstances by which he was obtaining the property.⁵⁹

The *Rozell* Court concluded that Mr. Gardiner had been unjustly enriched.⁶⁰ Citing black-letter law, the Court explained: subsequent holders of fraudulently obtained property may be liable for unjust enrichment if they similarly act in bad faith and with notice of the inequitable circumstances.⁶¹ The Court's holding is inapposite here, where St. Jude was lawfully entitled to the funds it received from the Estate and had no knowledge of Ms. Piper's deception. More, as the Court of Appeals explained, this situation "is unlike conversion of real property, which is considered unique. The damages can also be ascertained with certainty . . ." such that

- ⁵⁹ Id.
- ⁶⁰ *Id.* at 84.
- ⁶¹ *Id.* at 83-84.

the jury's award against Ms. Piper, for the specific monetary damages the Trust sought, is sufficient.⁶²

Aligned with the *Rozell* precedent, in *Pitzer v. Union Bank of California*, 141 Wn.2d 539 (2000), this Court further clarified that some "element of wrongdoing" is necessary to impose any equitable relief, including a constructive trust for unjust enrichment. This Court relied on the general rule of constructive trusts, *i.e.*, that constructive trusts allow courts to prevent the holder of the legal title from retaining a beneficial interest where "in good conscience" he should not.⁶³ This requirement is also captured by the elements required to prove an unjust enrichment claim: (1) plaintiff "conferred a benefit upon the defendant," without consideration; (2) the defendant had knowledge of this conferral; and (3) it would be unjust for

⁶² Pet., App. 1 at 9-10.

⁶³ *Pitzer*, 141 Wn.2d at 548.

the defendant to retain the benefit without compensating plaintiff.⁶⁴

Here, St. Jude had absolutely no involvement in the securities transaction between the Trust and the Estate. St. Jude did nothing wrong. St. Jude was lawfully entitled to receive the Estate's funds, because (1) the Trust bought the Estate's interest in the mortgage-backed security, and (2) Mr. Yates bequeathed the remaining assets in his Estate to St. Jude. More, St. Jude did not receive these funds at the Trust's expense because the Trust received an interest in the Paraguayan security in consideration for the \$500,000 investment. The evidence at trial showed that that investment defaulted, but in fact still exists in Paraguay.

Viewcrest

The Trust separately cites *Viewcrest*, which is also distinguishable because, again, the defendant retained a benefit

⁶⁴ WPI 301A.02.

Here, the Trust received something of value in exchange for its funds, *i.e.*, a security interest from the Estate. And, unlike Mr. Deer who received a check from the plaintiff's bank account giving him notice of the wrongful payment, St. Jude had no knowledge of any of Ms. Piper's wrongdoing when it received the Estate's bequeathment. More, this Court's opinion in *Viewcrest* does nothing to change the correct analysis of the

⁶⁵ Viewcrest, 70 Wn.2d at 291.

⁶⁶ Id.

⁶⁷ *Id.* at 292.

Court of Appeals—that a party who has an adequate legal remedy may not also have an equitable remedy against an innocent third-party.

Because the facts and the Court of Appeals' decision are consistent with this Court's precedent, there is no basis to grant review.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision in *Bailie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems* is consistent with a requirement of wrongdoing.

The Trust asserts that this Court may also accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a published decision of the Court of Appeals.⁶⁸ The Trust relies on *Bailie Communications, Ltd. v. Trend Business Systems*, 53 Wn. App. 77 (1988). This reliance is misplaced. Indeed, *Bailie* exemplifies why unjust enrichment cannot, as a matter of law, have occurred here.

1. *Bailie* does not bolster the Trust's arguments because it is factually inapposite.

⁶⁸ Pet. at 21-26; see also RAP 13.4(b).

Contrary to the Trust's suggestion, the *Bailie* case is aligned with the Supreme Court precedent discussed above and is distinguishable from the facts at issue here.

The Bailies possessed a one-third interest in a Hawaiian condominium.⁶⁹ The Bailies assigned this interest to defendant Suburban, in exchange for two promissory notes totaling \$175,000 in value.⁷⁰ Mr. Wosepka personally guaranteed the notes and did so using another defendant, Trend's, letterhead.⁷¹ Mr. Wosepka was effectively Trend's alter-ego, as he was Trend's President and its sole shareholder.⁷² Neither Suburban nor Mr. Wosepka made the periodic payments required by the

⁷² Id.

⁶⁹ Bailie, 53 Wn. App. at 78.

⁷⁰ Id.

⁷¹ Id.

notes.⁷³ On this basis, the Bailies prevailed on their legal claims against Suburban and Mr. Wosepka.⁷⁴

To further profit from their scheme at the Bailies' expense, Suburban and Mr. Wosepka also fraudulently induced the Bailies to co-sign a mortgage for \$300,000. They represented that half the mortgage proceeds would be paid to the Bailies in satisfaction of Suburban's debt.⁷⁵ Instead, however, all \$300,000 of the mortgage proceeds were diverted to Trend.⁷⁶

The *Bailie* court held that that Trend was unjustly enriched because (1) Trend took the mortgage proceeds with notice of Mr. Wosepka's fraud (because Trend was effectively Mr. Wosepka's alter-ego), and (2) Trend did not pay any value

- ⁷³ *Id.*⁷⁴ *Id.* at 79.
- ⁷⁵ Id.
- ⁷⁶ Id.

for these same proceeds.⁷⁷ This is consistent with the analysis in *Rozell* and *Pitzer*.

As applied here, the Trust has not produced evidence (nor could it) that St. Jude was aware of Ms. Piper's wrongful actions. More importantly, the Trust received consideration for its \$500,000 investment—the interest in the Marengo loan. That the Marengo loan was a risky investment that failed is of no consequence under *Bailie*.

Likewise, the *Bailie* court lends no support to the Trust's position because the equitable remedy was for a separate and distinct wrong. Specifically, the case was remanded in order to award the plaintiffs a judgment against Trend for \$175,000, and therefore to compensate the Bailies for their "lost right in the form of the mortgage proceeds," which was separate and distinct from the value of the promissory notes.⁷⁸

⁷⁷ *Id.* at 85.

⁷⁸ *Id.* at 85-86.

2. The Court of Appeals already correctly rejected the same argument by the Trust.

At the Court of Appeals, the Trust made the same argument it does under *Bailie*—that equitable claims can be awarded following an award of legal claims—but it relied on *Columbia State Bank v. Invicta Law Group PLLC*, 199 Wn. App. 306 (2017). As before, the Trust's argument must fail.

The *Columbia State Bank* court upheld an equitable claim, even though the plaintiff had already been awarded an adequate remedy at law for the same damages. But it did so on narrow grounds that do not exist here.⁷⁹ First, "the court in Columbia State Bank rooted its analysis narrowly in successor liability," *i.e.*, that the successor entity (whom equitable relief was awarded against) was effectively the alter-ego of the entity that the bank had a legal remedy against.⁸⁰

⁷⁹ Columbia State Bank, 199 Wn. App. at 317.

⁸⁰ Pet., App. 1 at 7 (citing *Columbia State Bank*, 199 Wn. App. at 317).

This relationship is similar to that found between Mr. Wosepka and Trend in *Bailie*, who were effectively alter-egos of one another. In contrast to the *Bailie* and *Columbia State Bank* defendants, St. Jude is clearly an *innocent* third party with no connection to the wrongdoer. As the Court of Appeals explained: "This is clearly distinguishable from the relationship between [Ms.] Piper and [St. Jude], which were separate entities and whose relationship arose out of a single transaction pursuant to Yates' will."⁸¹

C. The Trust's inflammatory attempts to mischaracterize St. Jude in its Petition disregards the facts and record in this case.

The Trust's final basis for asserting that this Court should grant review is that there is a substantial public interest at stake.⁸²

In furtherance of this argument, the Trust invokes two *criminal* statutes in support of its petition for review: (1) RCW

⁸¹ *Id*.

⁸² Pet. at 26.

9A.56.140, which requires the return of stolen property in one's possession; and (2) RCW 10.79.050, which permits restoration of stolen property.⁸³ But criminal statutes, as a general matter, have no bearing on civil litigation.⁸⁴

And there is no basis to draw on the criminal statutes here. Indeed, the Trust's arguments regarding criminal law are so untethered from the facts at issue here that this argument is pure distraction. First, the Trust already obtained a *civil judgment* against the wrongdoer, Ms. Piper. Second, the record clearly reflects that St. Jude lawfully received the money from the Estate, and only after the Trust received value for its investment.

Thus, there is no public policy issue for this Court to resolve and the Trust's Petition should be denied.

⁸³ *Id.* at 26-28.

⁸⁴ See Priest v. Am. Smelting & Refining Co., 409 F.2d 1229, 1232-33 (9th Cir. 1969) (explaining that, under Washington law, it is generally disfavored to use criminal judgments in subsequent civil cases).

V. CONCLUSION

For all of these reasons, the Court should decline to

review this case.

I certify that this memorandum contains 4,211 words, in

compliance with RAP 18.17(b).

SUBMITTED this 28th day of September, 2022.

HARRIGAN LEYH FARMER & THOMSEN LLP